1964

Phoebe H. Durrant v. Nancy Pelton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment in favor of the respondent for damages occurring when a vehicle driven by the ~~defendant~~ ^{appellant} collided with the ~~appellant's~~ ^{respondent's} vehicle which was stalled on Wasatch Boulevard in or partly within a traveled traffic lane at about 6:00 p.m. on March 11, 1963.

DISPOSITION BY THE TRIAL COURT

The case was submitted to a jury which returned a verdict for respondent in the amount of \$656.37, plus costs.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks vacation of the judgment entered upon the aforesaid verdict and an order of this Court that the case be remanded for retrial upon proper instructions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 11, 1963, at about the hour of 6:00 p.m., the appellant was proceeding in a southerly direction along the public highway known as Wasatch Boulevard. She had progressed beyond the intersection of that Boulevard with the Parley's Canyon highway (the extension of 21st South Street) and was traversing the valley through which Wasatch Boulevard passes at this location. It was snowing heavily (R 126, 133, 140). The time was approximately 6:00 p.m., and it was already dark (R 133, 140). All the vehicles on the highway at the time (except for plaintiff's vehicle as to which there is conflict in the evidence) had their lights burning. Respondent's vehicle had stalled on Wasatch Boulevard at a point which is a short distance up the south slope of the valley. According to respondent's testimony, her vehicle was stalled at such a position that it merely projected into the west lane of traffic (R 98). The testimony of the appellant and two disinterested witnesses is, however, that respondent's vehicle was stalled directly in the middle of the west lane of traffic (R 143, 158). As the highway is constructed through the aforesaid valley, it curves distinctly to the right as one moves up the south slope. (Defendant's Exhibit 7.) Appellant was driving her vehicle in the right or westernmost lane of traffic at a

speed which was well within the posted speed limit (R 133, 140). There is no contradiction of her testimony that her vision was then restricted by the falling snow and the advent of darkness. At the moment she began her ascent of the south slope, the difficulties of seeing became more pronounced as her headlights were beamed into the direction of snowfall, and the headlights of oncoming cars came into her line of vision (R 133). It was at this point in her progress that, as her eyes became adjusted to the new circumstances and she had proceeded far enough around the curve so that respondent's car was directly in front of her, appellant became aware that respondent's vehicle was in her path and that some effort must be made to avoid collision (R 134). There is conflict in the evidence as to whether respondent had taken any action to warn oncoming drivers of the presence of her vehicle. Appellant's witnesses testified that the lights of the respondent's vehicle were not even turned on (R 141, 158). Appellant was unable to turn from the westernmost lane of traffic into the adjoining lane because of traffic on her left (R 128). Even though she was proceeding at a slower rate of speed than had respondent previously been proceeding (R 48) and slower than the speed of other cars on Wasatch Boulevard (R 140), she was unable to bring her car to a stop in time to avoid collision with plaintiff's vehicle.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT THE APPELLANT HAD, IN

ESSENCE, AN OBLIGATION TO MAINTAIN SUCH CONTROL OVER HER VEHICLE THAT SHE COULD BRING IT TO A COMPLETE STOP, WHATEVER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF VISIBILITY MIGHT BE, WITHIN THE RANGE OF HER VISION.

One of appellant's principal contentions, in denying liability under the facts of the instant case, was that she could not, in the exercise of reasonable care, have avoided the collision which is the basis of respondent's complaint. We believe this Court has been most explicit, in its decisions, as to the responsibilities of the drivers of vehicles under the circumstances of the instant case. While the driver who drives his car into the rear of a stalled vehicle must certainly justify his failure to stop or turn in order to avoid the collision, this Court has distinctly recognized that such failures can be satisfactorily explained so that the collision falls into the category of "unavoidable accidents". This Court has had occasion to consider a number of cases where the driver of the following vehicle undertook to explain his failure to stop on the basis of visual difficulties such as darkness, the fact that snow was falling, the fact that the lights of oncoming cars blinded him and the fact that the curvature of the highway prevented his becoming aware of the stalled vehicle in time to take effective action even though his speed was, under the circumstances of which he had knowledge, reasonable.

We believe that, where this Court has stated with great particularity what the responsibilities of individuals are under a given and commonly recurring situa-

tion, it is the obligation of the trial court, when requested, to give an instruction which is oriented to the situation rather than to give a general instruction in terms which have little meaning to the lay mind.

In the instant case, the Court refused to give the requested instruction on unavoidable accident which had relation to the specific facts of the case. The instructions in fact given by the Court as to the duty of the appellant were an adoption of the doctrine of *Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy*, 80 Utah 331, a 1932 case which has been frequently criticized by this and other courts. That case stated the controlling rule to be "That it is negligence as a matter of law for a person to drive an automobile upon a traveled public highway" * * * "at such a rate of speed that said automobile cannot be stopped within the distance at which the operator of said car is able to see objects upon the highway in front of him." The Court's Instruction No. 6 in the instant case is a paraphrase of the quoted language. For the Court's convenience, we reproduce it here:

"You are instructed that there was a duty on the part of the defendant to keep her vehicle always under control so as to avoid an accident. She had no right to assume that the road was clear but under all circumstances and at all times she was required to be vigilant and to anticipate and expect the presence of other vehicles upon the highway. The test of control is the ability to stop, slow down or turn out quickly and easily. When this result is not accomplished, the inference can readily be made that the vehicle was running too fast or that proper effort to control it was not

made. If, therefore, you find from a preponderance of the evidence in this case that at and immediately prior to the time of the accident the defendant did not have her vehicle under proper control, then in that event the defendant was negligent.”

Not only did the trial court instruct the jury in the doctrine of the *Dalley* case by Instruction No. 6, the Court emphasized and re-emphasized that doctrine in Instructions 7 and 8. No juror, having read Instructions 6, 7 and 8, could come to any conclusion about the law to be applied except that a driver is negligent if he runs into any obstruction on the highway which does not drop out of the sky immediately in front of him. For this jury, the only relief from the stark adjuration that a driver must always “keep her vehicle always under control so as to avoid an accident” was the J.I.F.U. instruction on unavoidable accidents which is, of course, stated in general terms and could not be related to the instant case by a conscientious juror in view of the fact that the Court had particularly instructed that a defendant must always be able to stop within the range of his vision.

Since the trial court was so clearly persuaded to the point of view of *Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy*, it is appropriate for us now to consider the extent to which that case expresses the present position of this Court. We believe the *Dalley* case has been so differentiated and its application so restricted in later Utah cases that it can no longer be cited as a statement of the basic law of this State.

The defendant's vehicle, in the *Dalley* case, was stalled on a straight stretch of highway, there was nothing to obstruct the plaintiff's vision, and weather conditions were good. The Court sustained a directed verdict against the plaintiff (the driver of the following car which collided with the stalled vehicle) and stated the controlling rule to be "that it is negligence as a matter of law for a person to drive an automobile upon a traveled public highway" . . . "at such a rate of speed that said automobile cannot be stopped within the distance at which the operator of said car is able to see objects upon the highway in front of him."

It should be noted that, in each of the *Dalley* case and the cases therein cited, there was comment about the plaintiff's "dilemma" — i. e. either his lights were inadequate or he failed to keep a reasonable lookout. Where the facts as to visibility are changed, however, the Utah Court has come to entirely different conclusions as to the patency of the following driver's negligence. In *Trimble v. Union Pacific Stages*, 142 Pac. 2d 764 (1943), the Court reviewed the *Dalley* case and its antecedents and, limiting those cases to their facts, said "We do not believe this (the *Dalley* doctrine) to be the correct rule of law" when applied to a situation where there is fog, smoke or some other obstruction of the following driver's vision. Some fifteen cases from almost as many jurisdictions were cited in support of the Court's conclusion that mere failure to stop within vision's range is not necessarily negligence where vision is obstructed by factors beyond the control of the following driver.

The statement of the *Trimble* case that negligence must be proved by more than the fact of collision was reaffirmed by the Court in *Hodges v. Waite*, 270 P. 2d 461, where the obstruction was a curve in the highway. There again, the question of whether the following driver (the plaintiff in that case) was negligent was a matter for the jury. The judicial statement which most effectively lays the ghost of the *Dalley* case, however, is found in *Federated Milk Producers Association v. Statewide Plumbing & Heating*, 358 Pac. 2d 348 (1961). “The *Dalley* case rule on which defendant relies,” said Justice Wade, “requires a showing from which it must inevitably follow that plaintiff did not keep a lookout ahead . . . or did not heed what he saw or he could not see . . . because his lights were not such as are prescribed by law.” (Our emphasis)

There is no shred of evidence in the instant case that appellant failed to keep a lookout or that her lights were less than what the law requires. The credible evidence is that she was unable to stop within a few feet after she discerned through the snow that a snow-covered car with its lights off was stalled directly in her traffic lane in the darkness ahead.

In the instant case, the facts could hardly more clearly establish that we are dealing with a situation where *Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy* has no application. Everyone agrees that it was dark enough so that headlights were necessary for vision. Appellant’s witnesses, who have no interest in the outcome of this case, testified that it was not merely dusk but dark. Exhibit P-6

establishes the time at which the sun descended below a flat horizon. The Court may, of course, take knowledge of the fact that the Oquirrh Range rises well above the flat horizon in the path of the sun's descent west of the accident site during early spring. That it was snowing heavily at the time of the accident is also a matter of general agreement. Mr. and Mrs. Anderson were very positive in their statements as to the effect of the snow to obscure vision. The fact that the highway curves so that a stalled vehicle at the accident site would not be in direct line of a following driver's vision for any great distance is made clear by an examination of defendant's Exhibit 7. The evidence is also without contradiction that there were northbound cars on the highway, that their headlights were burning and that the beams of their lights were occasionally directed into appellant's eyes as she began her ascent of the south slope of the dip. All that the Court need judicially notice to complete the picture of the appellant in a predicament dangerous for reasons beyond her control is the physical fact that falling snow tends to obscure vision more as one drives upward into it.

Under the facts of this case, Instructions 6, 7 and 8 were entirely improper, and it was improper for the Court to deliver them even if the Court had also given some instruction reasonably calculated to impart the respondent's legal position. In the absence of an instruction reasonably communicating to the jury the view of the *Trimble* case, the *Hodges* case and the *Federated Milk Producers* case, the trial court's delivery of Instructions 6, 7 and 8 was clear and prejudicial error.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 11.

There is abundant evidence, most of which is not contradicted in the slightest by respondent, that a great many factors contributed to appellant's inability to see respondent's stalled car. There were the darkness, the falling snow, the change in light refraction as appellant's car began to ascend, the glare of oncoming headlights, the curvature of the road, and the natural camouflage of plaintiff's snow-covered car. Defendant did not even have the benefit of plaintiff's tail lights if we are to believe her testimony and that of the Andersons, the only disinterested witnesses.

Clearly, the evidence brings this case within the scope of the doctrine so carefully stated by this Court in *Federated Milk Producers Ass'n., Inc. v. Statewide Plumbing & Heating Co.* (supra). This Court there reviewed its several previous decisions on the point and approved the view of the Washington Court that, when visibility becomes difficult, a driver is not obliged to stop. If, indeed, the law were to impose a duty on motorists to stop or come to a near stop under such conditions, traffic would stop entirely with the most cautious driver. Obviously, a driver beginning to ascend a hill during a snow storm acts reasonably if he tries to maintain some momentum. He may otherwise become a highway obstruction himself.

The statement of doctrine in the *Federated Milk* case, to which we have referred, is this:

“The unseeability of substantial objects on the highway in time to avoid an accident may depend on many things other than inattention, faulty headlights, or failure to give heed to what was there to be seen. A sudden heavy smoke, fog, snow or rain storm, lightning or approaching headlights or a combination of some or all of these elements, coupled with the negligence of the other party, may make an accident unavoidable regardless of how alert and competent a driver is or how well equipped his car is with brakes, lights and other necessary appliances. The visibility of substantial objects may depend on their size, shape, color or whether they absorb or reflect light or blend with or stand out in contrast to the background. To be alert to all surrounding conditions, to have good eyesight, to have proper headlights and brakes and to keep the vehicle under relatively safe control are all very important, but under some circumstances all of these things are not sufficient to enable a reasonably prudent driver to avoid an accident.” (From page 298 of the Utah Report.)

This is precisely the instruction appellant requested the Court to deliver (Defendant’s Requested Instruction No. 11; Record p. 49). The Court refused to do so, even though the authority for the requested instruction was cited and shown to the Court. Instead, the Court gave a general instruction on unavoidable accident and gave three specific instructions conveying the view that a driver must, at all times, be able to come to a full stop within the range of his vision and that one who stalls a car, however negligently, upon a highway

may assume that following drivers will be able to see and avoid the stalled car. In short, the trial court deliberately ignored the last pronouncement of this Court as to the obligations of motorists under conditions of difficult visibility.

Appellant contends the failure of the trial court to give Defendant's Requested Instruction No. 11 constitutes prejudicial error. No conscientious juror could have found this accident was "unavoidable" in the face of the instructions 6, 7 and 8 given by the trial court. Had defendant's instruction been given, no conscientious juror could have found otherwise than that the accident was unavoidable.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 13.

Respondent filed her complaint in this matter in June of 1963 over her attorney's signature. In Paragraph 1 of that complaint, she alleges that her car was "stalled, out of gas" on the highway at the time of the accident. Respondent persisted in this statement of fact through the pretrial conference, and the pretrial order framed, as an issue, whether or not respondent's failure "to have her car properly fueled so the same would not run out of gas at a dangerous time and place" constituted negligence. Appellant briefed the point and relied upon respondent's admitted failure to keep gas in her car as a defense.

It was not until the trial of the case that the respondent made any effort to amend her pleadings to avoid the

effect of the admission in her pleadings that she had run out of gas. During the trial, respondent testified that her gas gage showed an adequate gas supply at the time of the accident and that she later drove the car before it was refueled. Appellant objected to such testimony and indicated to the Court that plaintiff should not be permitted to testify contrary to the allegations of her complaint particularly when defendant had no reason to anticipate such testimony. The officer who investigated the accident might have seen the gas gage. The people who towed the car away may have refueled it. Appellant made no effort to obtain such evidence because the need for it appeared to be lacking. Nevertheless, respondent was permitted by the Court to amend her complaint at the conclusion of her evidence to delete the reference to her having run out of gas.

Appellant, having objected to the amendment of the complaint and the introduction of evidence that the car stalled for any reason other than lack of fuel as alleged in the complaint, then asked the court to instruct the jury that it must find plaintiff had run out of fuel and to consider whether plaintiff was or was not negligent on that basis. The Court refused to do so.

The only basis upon which amendments to conform to the evidence are properly made is Rule 15(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. That rule reads in its entirety as follows:

“AMENDMENTS TO CONFORM TO THE EVIDENCE.
When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried

by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendment of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits. The court shall grant a continuance, if necessary, to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence.”

The rule has application only to issues not raised by the pleadings and permits amendment which will cause the pleadings to raise the issues as they were posed by the evidence. It is not true that the pleadings in this case are silent on the issue of whether respondent permitted her vehicle to run out of gas. Respondent alleged that she did, and appellant admitted it. That issue was fully disposed of by the pleadings. We contend it was error for the trial court to permit the amendment over objection. In any event, appellant should have been given an opportunity to develop her evidence on the point. We believe the defense of contributory negligence based on fuel exhaustion is a meritorious defense. At least one court has ruled that it is negligence as a matter of law to obstruct a highway because of fuel exhaustion. In

Keller v. Breneman, 153 Wash. 208, 279 Pac. 588, 67 A. L. R. 92, the Court said:

“His first act of negligence was in operating it over the highway in a condition to become stalled for want of a sufficient supply of gasoline.”

“A motor vehicle is a complicated piece of mechanism, and some part of it may give way and cause it to stall, no matter what degree of care the operator may have exercised to keep it in proper condition, and it is a want of such care to permit it to stall for want of a sufficient supply of gasoline.”

Research has revealed no judicial statement of a contrary view.¹

CONCLUSION

Most of the Utah cases which have posed the issue now before this Court have been cases when the following driver was *plaintiff*, not defendant. Even in *Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy*, the plaintiff was the following driver who ran into the back of a truck on a clear day, on a straight stretch of road when road conditions were excellent. It is usually the driver who obstructs the highway who is called upon to explain his conduct.

In the instant case, appellant was unable to avoid collision by reason of a combination of circumstances beyond her control. This Court has frequently commented upon and clearly defined the standard of care which must be satisfied by people driving under conditions of poor visi-

¹ See discussion in *Ford v. Herod*, 353 P. 2d 702 (Okla. 1960).

bility. Appellant is a working woman who was driving her two little children home from a day care center at dinner time in a snow storm. The trial court so instructed the jury that it was obliged to find that she was duty bound to expect that respondent (or someone of like habits) would stall a car in the middle of the traffic lane of Salt Lake County's major freeway. We believe the needs of society are badly served by any rule of law which would require her to park under such circumstances. We submit that she was not given a fair trial by a jury instructed as this one was.