Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Phoebe H. Durrant v. Nancy Pelton: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY WITH RESPECT TO THE DEFENDANT'S OBLIGATION TO MAINTAIN CONTROL OVER HER VEHICLE, TO KEEP A PROPER LOOKOUT AND TO TRAVEL AT A REASONABLE SPEED.

Appellant contends that the giving of plaintiff's requested instructions No. 6, 7 and 8 was an adoption of the doctrine of Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy, 80 Utah 331, and that said rule announced in Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy is no longer the Utah law. The three instructions complained of by the defendant are instructions pertaining to lookout, control and the duty of a driver of a motor vehicle to drive at a reasonable speed under the existing conditions. In the Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy case the court did announce and adopt the rule of law that it is negligence as a matter of law for a person

to drive an automobile on a traveled public highway used by vehicles and pedestrians at such a rate of speed that said automobile cannot be stopped within the distance at which the operator of said car is able to see objects upon the highway in front of him, citing the cases of *Nikole-ropoulos* v. *Ramsey*, 61 Utah 465, 214 P. 304, and other cases.

The plaintiff in its requested instruction No. 2 (R. 31) did, in fact, request the court to instruct the jury with respect to the use of lights and that it was negligence as a matter of law for a person to drive a vehicle upon a highway at a rate of speed that the vehicle could not be stopped within the distance at which the operator of the vehicle was able to see objects on the highway in front of her and likewise, with respect to driving at a speed at which she was not able to stop when she saw plaintiff's vehicle, but the court refused the instruction.

On the facts as they existed in the case of Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy, our Supreme Court would apparently still come to the same conclusion. However, there are exceptions to the general rule in the Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy case. Some of the exceptions to the general rule are expressed in cases such as Nielson v. Watanabe, 90 Utah 401, 62 (P(2) 117, where the driver of a car was suddenly and unexpectedly blinded by the lights of an approaching vehicle and while so blinded the collision occurred. Under these circumstances the Utah Supreme Court held that it was not contributory negligence as a matter of law to run into an unlighted vehicle but was a question of fact for the jury. In Trimble v. Union Pacific Stages, 105

Utah 457, 142 P(2) 674, the Utah Supreme Court held that a bus driver was not negligent as a matter of law where the automobile in which the plaintiff decedent was riding was parked on the left shoulder of the highway without lights and was struck by the bus when it suddenly entered a fog area. In the case of Hodges v. Waite, 270 P(2) 461, 2 Utah(2) 152, our court held that it was a jury question as to whether or not the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence when he came around a curve which blocked his view and ran into the trailer of the defendant which was parked on the right shoulder of the road with part of the trailer being upon the hard surface. In the case of Federated Milk Producers Association v. Statewide Plumbing and Heating Company, 11 Utah (2) 294, 358 P(2) 348, the headlights of an approaching car and a large trenching machine on one side of the road obscured and distracted the attention of the plaintiff and the court again ruled that the plaintiff was not negligent as a matter of law in failing to see an unlighted row of dirt in time to have stopped before striking it, and that the question of plaintiff's contributory negligence was a proper question for the jury.

In the case before this court the trial judge did not make a ruling as a matter of law with respect to the negligence of the defendant but did properly submit it to the jury on proper instructions defining the defendant's duty with respect to lookout, speed and control.

There is a dispute in the evidence with respect to the existing conditions at the time of the accident. However, by the defendant's own testimony it appears that the

snowstorm, whatever the severity of it may have been, was of the same relative intensity some time before the accident as it was at the time of the accident. The defendant was, therefore, not surprised by the existence of the storm or the nature of it and if she was, as indicated in her testimony, driving at a speed where she could not stop within the range of her headlights the least that could be said would be that it would be a jury question as to whether or not she was driving at a speed that was reasonable and proper under the existing conditions. Likewise, her statement that she could see 60 to 70 feet in front of her but that she didn't see the defendant's vehicle until she was 30 feet from it would again raise the question as to whether or not she was keeping a proper lookout and this also would be a question for the jury. And again, if in fact the defendant was driving at a speed where she could not stop within the distance at which she could see objects in front of her, the issue of whether or not she had proper control of her vehicle would be a proper one to submit to the jury.

The witnesses, Mr. and Mrs. Anderson, were aware of the existence of the plaintiff's vehicle on the highway from the time they started down the hill until the time of impact between the defendant's and plaintiff's vehicles. If they were able to observe the plaintiff's vehicle under the same general circumstances that existed with respect to the defendant then it would be a question for the jury as to whether or not the defendant should also have seen the plaintiff's vehicle and been aware of it before the time she actually did observe it, according to her own testimony.

POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 11.

On pages 4 and 5 of appellant's brief appellant states that, "It is the obligation of the trial court, when requested, to give an instruction which is oriented to the situation rather than to give a general instruction in terms which have little meaning to the lay mind." Appellant has cited as error failure of the court to give its requested instruction No. 11 but an examination of the instruction indicates that the instruction is not oriented to the particular situation that existed at the time this accident occurred. For instance, there is no evidence whatsoever in the case that there was any sudden heavy smoke or any fog, any lightning, or a rainstorm, or that in fact the headlights of the defendant were faulty. Including these items in an instruction pertaining to this case would be error.

The defendant complains about the court's giving the instruction it did on unavoidable accidents, but the defendant in its requested instruction No. 10 requested the court to give the instruction on unavoidable accidents as it was given by the court. Respondent, therefore, submits that the court properly refused to give the appellant's instruction No. 11 as requested.

POINT III.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 13.

Appellant in her brief at page 14 has claimed that respondent alleged she ran out of gas and that appellant admitted it. A review of the pleading will show that appellant in her answer (R 3) denied that plaintiff ran out of gas and alleged that plaintiff in fact parked her vehicle on the highway. The pre-trial order set up the issues to be tried. One of defendant's contentions which was set up as an issue to be tried was that plaintiff was negligent "in failing to have her car properly fueled so the same would not run out of gas at a dangerous time and place." (R 7) The burden of showing this was upon the defendant. Defendant also still contended that plaintiff parked her car and this was an issue. (R 7)

At the time of trial plaintiff testified without objection upon the part of the defendant (R 100, 101) that she did not know why her car sputtered and stopped; that in fact her gas gauge did not read empty but 1/8 full and that later she drove the car a short distance before putting any gas in it. (R 116) Appellant's counsel on page 13 of his brief claims that he objected to such testimony being given but the record is to the contrary. After all the evidence was in and both parties had rested, the plaintiff moved the court for an order allowing plaintiff to amend the complaint to conform to the evidence or proof that was offered. (R 74) This was the first time defendant's counsel objected. The court granted the motion (R 75). Defendant had already filed his request for instructions from 1 to 12 (R 38) which did not include any request pertaining to negligence with respect to running out of gas and it was only after plaintiff's motion to

amend had been granted that defendant then filed the requested instruction No. 13 asking the court to instruct the jury that they must find that plaintiff's automobile stalled upon the highway by reason of the exhaustion of its gas supply. The defendant never did request an instruction pertaining to whether or not one is negligent if her car stalls by reason of the exhaustion of her gas supply.

In appellant's brief, Kellar v. Breneman, 153 Wash. 208, 279 P. 588, has been cited supporting the doctrine that a driver is guilty of negligence in operating his car over a highway in a condition where it becomes stalled for want of a sufficient gas supply, it is further stated that research has revealed no judicial statement of a contrary view. The respondent desires to cite a few cases to the contrary.

In the case of Fick v. Herman Oil Transport Company, Nebraska 11 CCH (2) 366, a 1955 case, a truck tank combination hauling gasoline ran out of gas. The driver had failed to check it before leaving on a trip assuming that the driver who had last driven the truck had in accordance with usual practice had the gasoline tank filled. The road point where the tank ran out of gas had about a ten foot shoulder but it was soft and muddy at the time and the driver of the truck, therefore, pulled over to the right as far as he could without going out on the shoulder. The plaintiff vehicle ran into the rear of the tanker. The plaintiff charged the driver of the tanker with negligence in failing to check the fuel and for running out of gas on the highway. This issue

was submitted to the jury. On appeal, the appellant cited as error the failure of the trial court to withdraw this issue. On appeal, the trial court held the mere stalling of a vehicle temporarily on the highway caused by the exhaustion of the gas supply would not ipso facto constitute negligence as a matter of law and in this case there being no evidence to show that the driver was negligent the issue should have been withdrawn from the jury.

In the case of *Rath* v. *Bankston*, a 1929 California case, 281 P. 1081, the court held that the truck driver's failure to maintain sufficient fuel in the gasoline tank was excusable where the same procedure as to refilling the tank had been sufficient on previous trips.

In Volume 2, Section 824, Blashfield, Permanent Edition, at page 5, it is stated:

"Generally speaking it is the duty of a driver on a highway to see that the car is maintained in such condition as to the fuel supply that it may not become a menace on the highway to other traffic by stopping on the road, and failure to exercise reasonable care to keep it in proper condition in this respect is negligence. But if a motorist has exercised reasonable care, an unforeseen failure of his gasoline supply does not constitute negligence."

The respondent, therefore, submits that the court was not in error in failing to allow plaintiff to amend her complaint. It was only amended to conform to the proof and the issues already set up and consequently the court likewise did not err in refusing to give appellant's requested instruction No. 13.

CONCLUSION

The court's instructions were fair and proper and a fair trial was had by both parties. The trial court's judgment on the jury verdict should be affirmed.